SUPREME COURT NO. 17-1075 Polk County No. FECR217722

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

KENNETH LEROY HEARD Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY HONORABLE ROBERT J. BLINK, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Gary Dickey Counsel of Record DICKEY & CAMPBELL LAW FIRM, PLC 301 East Walnut St., Ste. 1 Des Moines, Iowa 50309 PHONE: (515) 288-5008 FAX: (515) 288-5010 EMAIL: gary@dickeycampbell.com

PROOF OF SERVICE & CERTIFICATE OF FILING

On June 13, 2018, I served this brief on the Applicant at his address at the Iowa State Penitentiary and all other parties by EDMS to their respective counsel:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. WHETHER HEARD'S SENTENCE OF LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE IS CONSTITUTIONAL IN THE ABSENCE OF ANY FINDING BY THE JURY THAT HE WAS AN ADULT AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE

Alleyne v. United States, 570 U.S. 88 (2013)
Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000)
In re Winship, 397 U. S. 358 (1970)
Phillips v. Iowa Dist. Court for Johnson County, 380 N.W.2d 706 (Iowa 1986)
State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Louisell, 865 N.W.2d 590 (Iowa 2015)
State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Sweet, 879 N.W.2d 811 (Iowa 2016)
United States v. Gaudin, 515 U. S. 506 (1995)

U.S. Const. amend VI Iowa Const. art. I, § 9 Iowa Const. art. I, § 17

Iowa Code § 902.3 Iowa Code § 902.9

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO COMPEL A WITNESS TO TESTIFY OVER THE BLANKET ASSERTION OF THE RIGHT AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION VIOLATED HEARD'S RIGHT TO COMPULSORY PROCESS

Bowles v. United States, 439 F.2d 536 (D.C. Cir. 1970)
Griffin v. California, 380 U.S. 609 (1965)
Hoffman v. United States, 341 U.S. 479 (1951)
Murphy v. Waterfront Comm'n of New York Harbor, 378 U.S. 52 (1964)
Sojic v. Karp, 41 N.E.3d 888 (Ohio Ct. App. 2015)
State v. Cashen, 789 N.W.2d 400 (Iowa 2010)

U.S. Const. amend V U.S. Const. amend XIV Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

Charles R. Nesson and Michael J. Leotta, *The Fifth Amendment Privilege Against Cross-Examination*, 85 Geo. L.J. 1627, 1672 (1997)

Wayne R. LaFave, et al., Criminal Procedure, (4th ed. 2015)

III. WHETHER THE JURY'S VERDICT WAS CONTRARY TO THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

State v. Ellis, 578 N.W.2d 655, 658-59 (Iowa 1998) *State v. Nitcher*, 720 N.W.2d 547 (Iowa 2006)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case presents a substantial question of first impression of whether a court, consistent with *Alleyne v. United States*, 570 U.S. 88 (2013), can impose a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole without the jury first determining beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was an adult at the time the crime was committed. Additionally, Kenneth Heard asks this Court to overrule the holding in *State v. Bedwell*, 417 N.W.2d 66 (Iowa 1987), that a criminal defendant cannot compel a witness to testify at trial following the witness's a blanket assertion of his right against self-incrimination to all questioning. Accordingly, retention of this case by the Iowa Supreme Court is warranted. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a),(c),(d), (f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 4, 2008, the State of Iowa filed a one-count trial information against Kenneth Heard charging him with Murder in the First Degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 707.1 and 707.2. (App at 6). Specifically, the State alleged that Heard willfully and deliberated killed Joshua Hutchinson with premeditation and malice aforethought. (App. at 6). Heard pled not guilty. The case first came to trial in November of 2008, and the jury convicted Heard of first-degree murder. (App at 24). He was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole. (App at 27).

Heard appealed. *State v. Heard*, 2010 WL 2090851 (Iowa Ct. App. May 26, 2010). He argued that his conviction was contrary to the weight of the evidence because the State's witnesses were not credible. *Id.* at *2. Additionally, he asserted that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request an instruction that accomplice testimony must be corroborated in order to support a conviction. *Id.* at *3. The court of appeals affirmed. *Id.* at *5-6.

Heard thereafter filed an application for postconviction relief in which he again claimed his trial counsel was ineffective. This time he contended that his trial counsel failed to investigate and offer evidence that another person committed the murder. (App. at 30). He also asserted that his trial counsel failed to investigate and present expert testimony explaining that blood spatter evidence would have been found on Heard's clothing if he fired the fatal gunshots. (App. at 30). The court found that Heard's counsel breached an essential duty in failing to investigate these two avenues of potential defenses, which was sufficient to undermine its confidence in the outcome of the trial. (App. at 50). Accordingly, the court granted Heard's postconviction relief application and ordered a new trial. (App. at 54).

The State elected to retry Heard on the first-degree murder charge. The evidence offered at the second trial largely overlapped the first trial but was not identical. The jury again returned a guilty verdict. (App. at 99). Heard filed various posttrial motions, which were denied by the district court. (App. at 110). The court again sentenced Heard to life in prison without

the possibility of parole. (App. at 110). Heard filed a timely notice of appeal. (App. at 112).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the morning of December 13, 2007, Joshua Hutchinson's body was found lying in the snow near an apartment complex on Center Street in Des Moines. (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 18-19). The cause of death was multiple gunshot wounds. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 116). Hutchinson (a/k/a "J-Hood") was a member of a group called "3 in 3 out" also known as "Third World," which was alleged to have sold drugs and committed robberies together. (05/23/17)Trial Tr. at 81; 05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 26, 74-75). Other members included Kenneth Heard (a/k/a "KQ"), Marco Brown (a/k/a "Juice"), Phillip Findley (a/k/a "Self"), and Deland Stanley (a/k/a "DB"). (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 80-84, 05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 23-26). Heard was viewed as the leader of the group and was considered "like brothers" with Hutchinson. (05/22/17 Trial Tr. at 159-60; 05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 33; 05/25/17 Trial Tr. at 57, 77-78). Stanley and Brown were best friends. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 74).

On December 12, 2007, Hutchinson was with Brown, Heard, Heard's girlfriend, Johnetta Daye, and Stanley's girlfriend-Jacquisha Majors. (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 85; 05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 68; 05/30/17 Trial Tr. at 13-14). They spent the day at a friend's house smoking marijuana, listening to music, and planning a robbery. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 34-35). At one point, Stanley called Majors from jail and asked her to go over to Hutchinson's house to pick up some clothing and then onto her cousin's residence to pick up a bulletproof vest and shotgun—which she did. (05/24/17 Trial)Tr. at 30-31, 35-36). Around midnight, they went to Majors's apartment. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 39). From there, Heard called Findley and told him to come to the apartment. (05/23/17 Trial)Tr. at 84-85; 05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 41-42). Hutchinson, high from the marijuana, went into a bedroom and fell asleep in Majors' bed. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 41). Upon Findley's arrival, Heard met with him and Brown in the bathroom. (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 85-86). Accordingly to Findley, Heard told them he was thinking about killing Hutchinson because Hutchinson was planning to rob him and was "snitching" to law enforcement. (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 85-

87). Sometime later, Heard told Majors to wake Hutchinson up. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 43). Heard then asked Majors to drive him and Hutchinson to the staging area for the robbery while Brown and Findley followed in their car. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 43-44). Daye stayed back at Majors' apartment. (05/30/17 Trial Tr. at 15).

Heard directed Majors to the apartment complex on Center Street. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 45). He had her drive to the back of the parking lot to wait for Heard's cousin to pick them up from there. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 45). Hutchinson and Heard got out of the car and walked towards a picnic table near a wooded area located a short distance from the parking lot. (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 92-93; 05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 46-47). Brown and Findley also got out of their car and followed. (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 92). Hutchinson walked over toward a tree to urinate. (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 93). While Findley was looking in another direction, he heard several gunshots. He saw Hutchinson's body fall to the ground, but he was not in position to see who fired the shots. (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 94-99, 112).

Majors, still in the parking lot, heard three to four gun shots as she was backing out to leave. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 47). The next thing she saw was Brown slide across the back of Findley's car as they were running from the gun shots. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 47-48). As Findley drove off, Brown was in possession the gun used in the shooting. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 97; 05/25/17 Trial Tr. at 27). Majors also saw Heard come running back. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 47). He yelled at Majors to "open the door," and directed her to take him to a friend's house. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 47-48). Along the way, Heard called Findley on his cell phone to ask, "Are you cool?" (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 98). Majors overheard Heard ask him "what they did with the gun." (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 49).

Once at the friend's house, Heard changed out of his clothes and removed a rubber glove from his hand. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 449-50). Brown had Findley drop him off back at Majors' apartment where Daye was still waiting. (05/23/17 Trial Tr. at 99). According to Daye, Brown came into the apartment, changed his clothes, and put them in a bag because he was scared there would be gunpowder on them. (05/25/17 Trial Tr. at 38). Eventually,

Heard and Majors also returned to the apartment. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 51).

The next morning, Majors received a telephone call from a police officer informing her that her number was found in Hutchinson's cell phone. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 53). Majors told the officer she did not know of anyone that would have wanted to hurt Hutchinson. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 53). For the next couple of days after the shooting, Stanley kept calling Majors from jail to ask her what happened. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 58-59). Heard started talking about leaving town and asked Majors if she wanted to go with him to Minnesota. (05/24/17 Trial Tr. at 59-60). A few days later, Majors took Heard to his cousin's house in Des Moines, and that was the last time she saw him. (05/24/17 Trial)Tr. at 61). The police eventually located Heard in Texas where he was arrested and brought back to Iowa to face a first-degree murder charge for Hutchinson's death. (05/25/17 Trial Tr. at 19).

Heard stood trial a second time in May of 2017. The jury found Heard guilty of first-degree murder, and he was sentenced to life in prison. This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

I. HEARD'S SENTENCE OF LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE THE JURY DID NOT MAKE A FINDING BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT HE WAS AN ADULT AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE

Error Preservation

Heard's trial counsel did not object to his sentence of life without the possibility of parole. Nonetheless, "errors in sentencing may be challenged on direct appeal even in the absence of an objection in the district court." *State v. Lathrop*, 781 N.W.2d 288, 293 (Iowa 2010).

Standard of Review

A constitutional challenge to the legality of a criminal sentence is reviewed de novo. *State v. Louisell*, 865 N.W.2d 590, 595 (Iowa 2015).

Analysis

A. Applicable legal principles

The Sixth Amendment provides that those "accused" of a "crime" have the right to a trial "by an impartial jury." U.S. Const. amend VI. Similarly, the Iowa Constitution declares that

the "right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." Iowa Const. art. I, § 9. The right to trial by jury, in conjunction with the right to due process, requires that each element of a crime be proved to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt. United States v. Gaudin, 515 U. S. 506, 510 (1995); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970); see also Phillips v. Iowa Dist. Court for Johnson County, 380 N.W.2d 706, 707-709 (Iowa 1986). Accordingly, any fact that, by law, increases the penalty for a crime is an "element" that must be submitted to the jury and found beyond a reasonable doubt. *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 483 n.10 (2000). This is true for any fact that increases either the maximum or mandatory minimum penalty for a crime. *Alleyne v. United States*, 570 U.S. 99.13 (2013).

B. Because Iowa prohibits the imposition of a sentence of life without parole for a youthful offender, a finding by the jury that Heard was an adult at the time of the offense was required

The district court sentenced Heard to "Life in Prison without the Possibility of Parole." (App. at 110); Iowa Code §§ 902.3, 902.9. In *State v. Sweet*, 879 N.W.2d 811 (Iowa 2016), however, the Iowa Supreme Court categorically banned sentencing "juvenile

offenders" to life without the possibility of parole under the Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clause of the Iowa Constitution. Id. at 839; Iowa Const. art. I, § 17. The line between juvenile and adult offenders is the age of eighteen. State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 403 (Iowa 2014). Thus, it necessarily follows under Allevne that the jury was required to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Heard was an adult offender at the time of his offense in order for the district court to have imposed the sentence of life without parole. Alleyne, 570 U.S. at 117 (holding that imposition of a mandatory minimum on the basis of a fact found by the judge, rather than the jury, violates the Sixth Amendment"). Here, the State did not identify Heard's age in the trial information. (App. at 6). The court did not include Heard's age as an element of the first-degree murder marshalling instruction. (App. at 102). Nor did the court submit to the jury an interrogatory or special verdict form requiring it to finding beyond a reasonable doubt that Heard was an adult offender. (App. at 99). Consequently, the imposition of life without parole violates Heard's rights to a jury trial and due process under both the United States and Iowa Constitutions.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT'S REFUSAL TO COMPEL MARCO BROWN TO TESTIFY FOLLOWING THE BLANKET ASSERTION OF HIS RIGHT AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION VIOLATED HEARD'S RIGHTS TO COMPULSORY PROCESS AND DUE PROCESS

Error Preservation

Heard preserved error by filing a motion to compel Brown's testimony. (App. at 65). The district court ruled on Heard's motion and confirmed its belief that error had been preserved. (App. at 95); (05/19/17 Hearing Tr. at 36-37).

Standard of Review

Claim asserting the violation of a constitutional right are reviewed de novo. *State v. Russell*, 897 N.W.2d 717, 724 (Iowa 2017).

Analysis

At the second trial, his defense counsel laid out Heard's theory of defense in the opening statement. That is, the State's evidence could not reasonably rule out that Marco Brown carried out the murder at the behest of Deland Stanley because Hutchinson made a pass at Stanley's girlfriend and was stealing drugs from him. (05/22/17 Trial Tr. at 131-141). Notably, Brown

testified at Heard's first trial. Indeed, Brown's trial testimony served as the basis of the district court's postconviction relief ruling that granted Heard a new trial. In particular, the court faulted the cross-examination of Brown in three respects: (1) failure to question Brown about his mental illness; (2) failure to impeach him on his prior conviction; and (3) failure to impeach him by a prior inconsistent statement to Charles Webster and Albert Harrison. (App. at 40, 43, 44).

When Brown appeared for depositions in preparation for the second trial, he asserted his right against self-incrimination and refused to testify. (App. at 56). He further declared that he would similarly refuse to testify at trial. (App. at 56). Accordingly, Heard's counsel filed a motion to compel Brown's testimony at trial. (App. at 65). In the motion, Heard identified several aspects of Brown's anticipated testimony that would significantly bolster his theory that Brown carried out the murder:

- Brown's admission that he had the murder weapon immediately before and after the murder;
- Brown cleaned the gun of all finger prints, DNA, and gun residue after the murder;

- Brown hid the gun after the murder;
- Brown disposed of his clothing after the murder because he thought there may be incriminating evidence on it;
- Stanley Brown to "mouse" Hutchinson;
- Brown was considered a follower of Stanley;
- Brown, at the direction of Stanley, helped Majors collect Stanley's personal items from Hutchinson the morning of the murder;
- Brown was extremely nervous and sweating profusely after the murder;
- Brown told Jaquisha Majors to lie to the police the day after the murder;
- Brown admitted to Majors that he murdered Hutchinson; and
- Brown made an admission of guilt after the murder while incarcerated.

(App. at 65-66). In addition, Heard's counsel identified several way in which Brown's testimony would impeach his prior accounts as well as Phillip Findley's version of events. (App. at 66-67).

The court denied Heard's motion to Compel Brown's testimony. (App. at 95). Relying upon *State v. Bedwell*, 417 N.W.2d 66 (Iowa 1987), the court concluded that a jury is not entitled to draw any adverse inference favorable to either party from a witness predetermined to invoke his or her right against self-incrimination. (App. at 95). The court explained that if found "troubling" the use of a witness's "exercise of constitutional rights as a weapon rather than a shield." (App. at 96). Such approach, the court reasoned, would invite "jurisprudential mischief in the criminal process." (App. at 96).

A. Applicable legal principles

This case requires the Court to resolve the conflict between two fundamental rights. On the one hand, a criminal defendant possesses the right to compulsory process to obtain witnesses in his favor. On the other hand, all individuals, not just the criminally accused, enjoy the right against self-incrimination.

A criminal defendant's right to compulsory process stems from the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which provides in relevant part that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor." U.S. Const, amend. VI. Similarly, article I, section 10 of the Iowa

Constitution affords the accused the right to "compulsory process for his witnesses." Iowa Const. art. I, § 10. The right to compulsory process includes the right to compel a witness's presence in the courtroom and the right to offer testimony of witnesses. *Russell*, 897 N.W.2d at 731. The Supreme Court has described the right to compulsory process as follows:

The right to offer the testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, is in plain terms the right to present a defense, the right to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecution's to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies. Just as an accused has the right to confront the prosecution's witnesses for the purpose of challenging their testimony, he has the right to present his own witnesses to establish a defense. This right is a fundamental element of due process of law.

Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 409 (1988). Along the same lines, the right to present a defense, which is essential to a fair trial, stems from the right to compulsory process." *State v. Simpson*, 587 N.W.2d 770, 771 (Iowa 1998). For this reason, the right to compulsory process is a "fundamental element of due process of law," and therefore, also embodied in the Due Process Clauses of the United States and Iowa Constitutions. *Washington v. Texas*,

388 U.S. 14, 19 (1967); see also Simpson, 587 N.W.2d at 771-72;
U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV; Iowa Const. art. I, § 9.

The Fifth Amendment, made applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, states that "[n]o person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." U.S. Const. amend V. While the Iowa Constitution does not expressly contain a provision against self-incrimination, Iowa court have recognized that such a right is fundamental to the "general guaranty of due process of law" found in article I, section 9. *State v. Height*, 117 Iowa 650, 659, 91 N.W. 935, 938 (1902). In *Murphy v. Waterfront Comm'n of New York Harbor*, 378 U.S. 52 (1964), the United States Supreme Court explained the purpose of the privilege:

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