IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 17-1075

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

KENNETH LEROY HEARD,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE ROBERT J. BLINK, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN P. SARCONI
Polk County Attorney

THOMAS H. MILLER & OLUBUNMI SALAMI
Assistant Polk County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **The *Alleyne* Claim Does Not Target an Illegal Sentence. Heard's *Alleyne* Claim Should Be Preserved for PCR.**

Preservation of Error

This challenge was not raised during trial or during Heard's sentencing hearing. If it truly alleges that Heard's sentence is illegal, error preservation rules do not apply. *See* Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a); *State v. Lyle*, 854 N.W.2d 378, 382 (Iowa 2014).

However, this argument does not challenge Heard's sentence as substantively illegal or unconstitutional. Iowa's error preservation rules "allow challenges to *illegal* sentences at any time, but they do not allow challenges to sentences that, because of procedural errors, are illegally imposed." *Tindell v. State*, 629 N.W.2d 357, 359 (Iowa 2001) (citing *State v. Wilson*, 294 N.W.2d 824, 825 (Iowa 1990)). Heard is arguing this sentence would have been legal if an additional element about age had been included in the marshalling instructions that were submitted to the jury. *See* Def's Br. at 18–20. But this is a challenge to the trial procedure, not the sentence itself. *See, e.g., United States v. Reyes*, 755 F.3d 210, 212 (3d Cir. 2014) (citing *Alleyne v. United States*, 570 U.S. 99, 118 (2013) (Sotomayor, J., concurring)) (observing that "*Alleyne* announced a procedural, rather than substantive rule").

Note that Heard’s claim is different from the motions to correct illegal sentences that were raised in juvenile sentencing cases decided under Article I, Section 17 of the Iowa Constitution—those challenges all alleged “the absence of a sentencing procedure” that, when absent, turns the sentence into one that is *substantively* unconstitutional. See *State v. Roby*, 897 N.W.2d 127, 137 (Iowa 2017) (quoting *Lyle*, 854 N.W.2d at 402). But this *Alleyne* claim only challenges the procedure used to determine whether unique protections were even applicable. No challenge to the method of making that finding could render the resulting sentence *substantively* illegal. See, e.g., *Beagle v. Stewart*, No. 2:17-cv-12760, 2017 WL 3704372, at *3 (E.D. Mich. Aug. 28, 2017) (explaining that “a sentence imposed in violation of *Alleyne* may nevertheless be accurate, whereas a sentence imposed in violation of *Miller* is necessarily invalid”). Neither *Alleyne* nor Iowa’s cases on juvenile sentencing can transform this claim about jury instructions into a challenge to an illegal sentence that would evade the general rule that “timely objection to jury instructions in criminal prosecutions is necessary in order to preserve any error thereon for appellate review.” See *State v. Taggart*, 430 N.W.2d 423, 425 (Iowa 1988); accord *State v. Alexander*, 853 N.W.2d 295, 297–98 & n.1 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014).

Because Heard’s claim does not really attack an illegal sentence, it cannot be brought “at any time” under Rule 2.24(5)(a) and does not evade generally applicable rules of error preservation. Heard can raise this claim under an ineffective-assistance rubric in a PCR action on the instructional claim, or he may seek relief based on a claim that he *was* a juvenile at the time of the offense, or he may raise both claims. *E.g., State v. Munoz–Gonzales*, No. 17–0361, 2018 WL 1433697, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 21, 2018) (noting that applicant had prevailed on similar claim in a second PCR action “in which he argued his sentence on the first-degree murder count was illegal because he was a minor when he committed the offense”). Neither of those claims have been raised in this appeal. *See* Def’s Br. at 18–20. Heard’s present claim is not cognizable as an exception to error preservation requirements, and this Court should decline to reach its merits. This claim needed to be preserved by timely objection, and that did not occur.

Standard of Review

If this Court reaches the issue, this illegal-sentence claim would be reviewed for errors at law. *See State v. Valin*, 724 N.W.2d 440, 444 (Iowa 2006); *State v. Shearon*, 660 N.W.2d 52, 57 (Iowa 2003).

Merits

Heard is asserting that he had a Sixth Amendment right to have a jury find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that he was not a juvenile at the time of the offense. *See* Def's Br. at 18–20. A similar *Alleyne* claim was recently rejected by the Iowa Court of Appeals in *State v. Quigley*:

Quigley also asserts he has a Sixth Amendment right to have a jury determine the applicability of “any fact that increases” a penalty. Here, the district court found a fact—Quigley’s age—that did not *decrease* the penalty. Because we agree that fact was found in the record, we need not address his constitutional claim.

State v. Quigley, No. 15–0551, 2016 WL 2748415, at *1 n.2 (Iowa Ct. App. May 11, 2016). Other courts have also rejected similar claims. *E.g.*, *United States v. Leanos*, 827 F.3d 1167, 1169–70 (8th Cir. 2016) (collecting cases that support its holding that “the requirements of *Alleyne* do not apply to a district court’s determination of whether the safety valve provided in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(f) applies”). The principle that animates these holdings is that neither *Alleyne* nor *Apprendi* preclude judicial fact-finding when the fact at issue “does not trigger or increase the mandatory minimum, but instead prohibits imposition of a sentence below a mandatory minimum” that is already prescribed and made mandatory “as a result of the guilty plea or jury verdict.” *See United States v. Harkaly*, 734 F.3d 88, 97–98 (1st Cir. 2013).

Note that, if Heard *was* a juvenile at the time of this murder, he would not be entitled to *Alleyne* procedural protections on any facts found by the sentencing court under section 902.1(2)(a). *See, e.g., People v. Hyatt*, 891 N.W.2d 549, 564–66 (Mich. Ct. App. 2016) (“[T]he procedure described by *Miller* is missing key components for purposes of *Apprendi* and its progeny [including *Alleyne*]: nowhere in *Miller*’s individualized sentencing mandate is the idea that *Miller* altered the maximum punishment available for juvenile offenders or made the imposition of any punishment contingent on fact-finding.”). Heard is entitled to trial by jury on all elements comprising the crime, but not on the presence or absence of potentially mitigating facts that could warrant relief under Article I, Section 17. Therefore, if this Court reaches the merits of this claim, it should reject it.

Even if Heard’s *Alleyne* claim were cognizable and had merit, there would be no reason to remand for a new trial on the issue of his involvement in this murder—the proper remedy would be a remand for trial on the issue of age alone, resembling the remedy ordered in recent habitual offender cases. *See, e.g., State v. Harrington*, 893 N.W.2d 36, 47–48 (Iowa 2017). This Court should not allow Heard to obtain a whole new trial on this unpreserved instructional challenge.

II. The District Court’s Refusal to Permit Heard to Call Marco “Juice” Brown to Encourage the Jury to Draw Inferences from Brown’s Refusal to Testify and His Invocation of the Fifth Amendment Privilege Against Self-Incrimination Was Not Reversible Error.

Preservation of Error

Error was preserved by the ruling that overruled Heard’s motion to compel Brown to take the stand. *See* Ruling (4/26/17); App. 95; *Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012).

Standard of Review

Heard argues his challenge implicates a constitutional right and that review is de novo. *See* Def’s Br. at 21. But this challenge pertains to admission of evidence and control over the flow of the trial process, which are generally entrusted to the trial court’s sound discretion, and rulings on such matters are typically reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See, e.g., State v. Russell*, 893 N.W.2d 307, 314 (Iowa 2017); *United States v. McAlister*, 693 F.3d 572, 583 (6th Cir. 2012). Indeed, Heard notes that “[t]he trial judge in appraising the claim must be governed as much by his personal perception of the peculiarities of the case as by the facts actually in evidence.” *See* Def’s Br. at 29 (quoting *Hoffman v. United States*, 341 U.S. 479, 487 (1951)). Exercise of that discretion typically receives some level of deference on appellate review.

Merits

Heard frames this issue as arising out of a conflict between his Sixth Amendment right to compel witnesses to testify in his defense and Brown’s Fifth Amendment right to refuse to incriminate himself. *See* Def’s Br. at 24–28. This framing is accurate and helpful, because “when a witness’ privilege against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment collides with an accused’s right to compulsory process under the Sixth Amendment, the latter must give way .” *See State v. McDowell*, 247 N.W.2d 499, 500–01 (Iowa 1976). *McDowell* rejected a challenge involving a similar “blanket” assertion of privilege:

[T]he evidence shows defendant and another person were in a Penney store browsing through clothes. Defendant herself asserts that the other person was Dietrick; she subpoenaed Dietrick as a witness. The supervisor saw that other person place merchandise in defendant’s purse. Defendant and the other person left, the supervisor followed, defendant fled and tried to ‘ditch’ one of the articles, and the supervisor and others apprehended her and found another tagged article in her purse. . . . The trial court properly upheld Dietrick’s claim of privilege.

As to the Extent of the privilege, a problem might exist but for defendant’s statement of the scope of her intended examination of Dietrick. . . . Defendant candidly states in her brief the testimony Dietrick could give—“what actually took place within the J. C. Penney’s Sportswear Department at the time of the incident. . . .” This incident was the subject matter of the case, the corpus delicti. Dietrick claimed and the trial court upheld the privilege regarding this subject matter.

We hold that under these circumstances, the trial court properly upheld the privilege as to the subject matter of the case. Had the court compelled Dietrick to testify about what actually took place within the J. C. Penney sportswear department at the time of the incident, it would have compelled her to place herself in the center of the alleged crime.

Id. at 501–02. Heard does make reference to prior filings that describe specific questions he wanted to ask Brown at trial. *See* Def’s Br. at 28 (citing Brief (2/20/17); App. 70);¹ *see also* Motion (2/20/17) at 1–3; App. 65–67; Brief (2/20/17) at 2–7; App. 71. But all of those questions fall into one of two categories: either they go towards proving Brown was solely responsible for this murder (and are thus incriminating), or they go towards impeaching Brown’s testimony (and are irrelevant if Brown does not testify about what happened). Logically, there is no question that Heard could have asked Brown that would have been “non-incriminating” while still retaining relevance to Heard’s defense. Heard’s defense was that Brown was the murderer, and any questions that would elicit answers that would advance that theory would be inherently incriminating. *McDowell*, 247 N.W.2d at 500–01. As such, the question of the scope of privilege is controlled by *McDowell*.

¹ Heard also cites a document with proposed cross-examination questions. *See* Def’s Br. at 28. That document was never filed, and it is not part of the record now before this Court on appellate review. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.801.

Heard cites to *United State v. Antelope* for the proposition that the Fifth Amendment “offers no protection” to anyone who “asserts a general intent to refuse to answer any questions at a court hearing.” See Def’s Br. at 30 (quoting *United States v. Antelope*, 395 F.3d 1128, 1134 (9th Cir. 2005)). But *Antelope* noted that a claimant “may simply refuse to make any statements that place him at risk” in “a pending or later criminal prosecution.” See *Antelope*, 395 F.3d at 1134–35 (second excerpt quoting *Minnesota v. Murphy*, 465 U.S. 420, 435 (1984)). Here, Brown’s blanket assertion of privilege as to the subject matter *of this trial*—a murder in which Brown was at least an accessory—matched the contours of his potential exposure to criminal liability. See *McDowell*, 247 N.W.2d at 500–02; *United States v. McAllister*, 693 F.3d 572, 583–84 (6th Cir. 2012) (holding that witness “had a clear entitlement to claim his Fifth Amendment privilege because the danger of incrimination was apparent”); *People v. Dyer*, 390 N.W.2d 645, 648–49 (Mich. 1986) (upholding Johnson’s blanket assertion of privilege against examination by the defendant because “answering any questions concerning the evening of defendant’s arrest, even as to Johnson’s presence at the scene of the crime, might have tended to incriminate Johnson”). This blanket assertion of privilege was proper.

Heard's argues that he should have been permitted to call Brown to stage a live invocation of Fifth Amendment privilege, and that this Court should overturn *Bedwell*, which adopted the holding from *Bowles*: "the jury is not entitled to draw any inferences from the decision of a witness to exercise his constitutional privilege *whether those inferences be favorable to the prosecution or the defense.*" See *State v. Bedwell*, 417 N.W.2d 66, 69 (Iowa 1987) (quoting *Bowles v. United States*, 439 F.2d 536 (D.C. Cir. 1970)); Def's Br. at 34–37. Confronting Heard's criticisms will help explain the merits of the *Bedwell/Bowles* approach under any constitutional framework.

First, Heard questions the notion that "guilt may never be inferred from the exercise of Fifth Amendment privilege." See Def's Br. at 34–35 (citing Charles R. Nesson & Michael J. Leotta, *The Fifth Amendment Privilege Against Cross-Examination*, 85 GEO L.J. 1627, 1672 (1997)). Heard cites to Chief Judge Bazelon's dissent in *Bowles* and argues that "there is a qualitative difference in inferences to be drawn from a prosecutor's use of silence versus a defendant's [use]"—and to Heard, the relevant distinction is "the difference between an inculpatory versus exculpatory, which for constitutional purposes is the difference between night and day." See Def's Br. at 35–36 (citing

Bowles, 439 F.2d at 545 (Bazelon, C.J., dissenting). Heard overlooks the flagrant manipulation that his asymmetric rules would encourage:

[T]he inference from the privilege can be manipulated by the defendant as well. Without the rule against drawing inferences from a witness's blanket invocation of the privilege against self-incrimination, any defendant with a friend could manufacture "reasonable doubt" in the minds of the jurors at no risk to the witness. For example, a defendant accused of burglary could call his comrade to the stand and ask if it were she, and not the defendant, who committed the burglary. The comrade would only have to respond, "I refuse to answer that question on the grounds that it would tend to incriminate me," and the jury would be left with the impression that she was the culprit (or at least with a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the culprit). Unlike a witness who testifies falsely on behalf of the defendant, the comrade who claims the privilege not to testify faces no liability—she has not admitted to any crime, nor can her testimony be effectively challenged as perjury.

Nesson & Leotta, *The Fifth Amendment Privilege*, 85 GEO. L.J. at 1644 (citing *United States v. Lacouture*, 495 F.2d 1237, 1240 (5th Cir. 1974)).

Heard relies on this article, but it endorses the *Bowles* holding that "[a] party should not be allowed to call a witness, knowing the witness will make a blanket invocation of the privilege, simply for the effect that the invocation will have on the jury"—it focuses its critique on "different concerns" implicated "when a witness testifies fully on direct examination, then invokes the privilege against self-incrimination when faced with cross-examination." *Id.* at 1645, 1685; *see id.* at 1671–83.

Here, unlike the situations at issue in selective invocation cases, Brown’s invocation did not leave behind “unconfrontable” evidence. The constitutional problems that arise when Sixth Amendment rights to confrontation/cross-examination of the prosecution’s witnesses are frustrated by a selective invocation of Fifth Amendment privilege on *cross-examination* (after direct examination) are simply not present.

Heard’s real complaint is that he was not allowed to draw an inference of Brown’s guilt from his invocation—but such an inference from a potential accomplice’s invocation would lack probative value.

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